Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Kaustubh Dabhadkar

04/21/2011

Urban-Rural Disparities in Cardiovascular Disease Mortality Rates

By

Kaustubh C. Dabhadkar

MPH

Epidemiology

Dr. K. M. Venkat Narayan, MD

Committee Chair

Dr. M. K. Ali, MBChB, MSc

Committee Member

Urban-Rural Disparities in Cardiovascular Disease Mortality Rates

By

Kaustubh C. Dabhadkar

MBBS, Grant Medical College, 2009

Thesis Committee Chair: Dr. K. M. Venkat Narayan, MD Committee Member: Dr. M. K. Ali, MBChB, MSc

An abstract of

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Public Health

in Epidemiology

2011

Urban- Rural Disparities in Cardiovascular Disease Mortality Rates

Kaustubh Dabhadkar, MBBS

Abstract:

Background: Cardiovascular diseases (CVD) continue to be the most important cause of mortality throughout the United States (US). Although CVD mortality rates have declined over the past two decades, it is unclear if the decline has been uniform across all urbanization levels.

Objective: We evaluated mortality rates due to CVD over eight years (1999-2007) in predefined US urbanization categories.

Methods: We used national-level mortality and population statistics from the National Center for Health Statistics for years 1999-2007 among persons over 45 years. We calculated crude and age-adjusted mortality rates in three predefined urbanization categories (large metropolitan areas, small metropolitan areas, and rural areas) to study the effect of urbanization level on mortality rates. We further modeled crude rates using Poisson regression to compare rate ratios of mortality due to CVD in different urbanization levels.

Results: In rural areas, CVD mortality rate continues to be higher than in metropolitan areas (Adjusted RR 1.34; 95 % CI 1.33- 1.35). This has gone up from 1.27 (95 % CI 1.26- 1.28) in 1999. Thus, urbanization level was found to be an independent predictor of mortality. Mortality rates in rural areas were higher than metropolitan areas in both genders as well as all age-groups. We also observed a decline in deaths due to CVD as a proportion of total deaths across the country, from 12.5 % in 1999 to 9.5 % in 2007. However, the decline in mortality was more in large metropolitan areas compared to small metropolitan and non-metropolitan areas. Age-group, race and gender differences in the population explain some of the excessive rate, but still a considerable portion remains unexplained.

Urban-Rural Disparities in Cardiovascular Disease Mortality Rates

By

Kaustubh C. Dabhadkar

MBBS, Grant Medical College, 2009

Thesis Committee Chair: Dr. K. M. Venkat Narayan, MD Committee Member: Dr. M. K. Ali, MBChB, MSc

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health

in Epidemiology

2011

Acknowledgement

I would like to thank my supervisors Dr. K. M. Venkat Narayan and Dr. M. K. Ali for their guidance, patience and invaluable advice during the preparation of my master's thesis. I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Abhinav Goyal, my faculty advisor for his constant support and encouragement. I would also like to acknowledge Dr. Ambar Kulshreshtha for his help during the analysis portion of this study and Mr. Mark Hutcheson for his help with IRB application. Finally, I would also like to thank my family and friends for their support and encouragement.

Table of Contents

Abstract:
Literature review
Introduction:
Methods:
Data source:
Statistical analysis:
Results:7
Discussion:
References
Tables15
Table 1: CVD Mortality Rates for US Population by urbanization categories, 200715
Table 2: Rate Ratio Estimates of CVD mortality From Poisson Regression Models by Urbanization categories, Age group, Gender, and Race in United States, 1999 and 200716
Figures
Figure 1: Age-adjusted US CVD mortality rates by Urbanization Level, 1999-200717
Figure 2: CVD deaths as a percentage of total deaths, 1999-2007
Public Health Implications and future directions

Urban- Rural Disparities in Cardiovascular Disease Mortality Rates

Kaustubh Dabhadkar, MBBS

Abstract:

Background: Cardiovascular diseases (CVD) continue to be the most important cause of mortality throughout the United States (US). Although CVD mortality rates have declined over the past two decades, it is unclear if the decline has been uniform across all urbanization levels.

Objective: We evaluated mortality rates due to CVD over eight years (1999-2007) in predefined US urbanization categories.

Methods: We used national-level mortality and population statistics from the National Center for Health Statistics for years 1999-2007 among persons over 45 years. We calculated crude and age-adjusted mortality rates in three predefined urbanization categories (large metropolitan areas, small metropolitan areas, and rural areas) to study the effect of urbanization level on mortality rates. We further modeled crude rates using Poisson regression to compare rate ratios of mortality due to CVD in different urbanization levels.

Results: In rural areas, CVD mortality rate continues to be higher than in metropolitan areas (Adjusted RR 1.34; 95 % CI 1.33- 1.35). This has gone up from 1.27 (95 % CI 1.26- 1.28) in 1999. Thus, urbanization level was found to be an independent predictor of mortality. Mortality rates in rural areas were higher than metropolitan areas in both genders as well as all age-groups. We also observed a decline in deaths due to CVD as a proportion of total deaths across the country, from 12.5 % in 1999 to 9.5 % in 2007. However, the decline in mortality was more in large metropolitan areas compared to small metropolitan and non-metropolitan areas. Age-group, race and gender differences in the population explain some of the excessive rate, but still a considerable portion remains unexplained.

Literature review

Cardiovascular diseases (CVD) comprising of ischemic heart disease, chronic heart failure, and stroke are the leading causes of death in the United States (US). CVDs were responsible for over 831 thousand deaths in US in 2006 alone – towering in comparison to the 13 thousand deaths due to Human Immunodeficiency Virus / Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (HIV/AIDS)(1-2). Over 151 thousand deaths caused by CVD were in people under the age of 65 – leading to lost outputs among the economically productive (1). Altogether, the cumulative direct and indirect costs in terms of premature death, disability, years of productivity lost, and healthcare costs make it a significant public health problem(3).

Hypertension, diabetes mellitus, smoking, obesity, and hyperlipidemia are some of the important risk factors which contribute to development of CVD, while unhealthy dietary habits and sedentary behaviors are upstream of many of these biochemical abnormalities. While positive actions in the form of risk factor control (e.g., tobacco prevention policies) and modern curative and rehabilitative advances (e.g., coronary artery bypass grafting, endovascular angioplasty procedures) have reduced mortality due to CVD, it still continues to be the leading cause of mortality and morbidity globally and in the US (4-5).

Understanding the impact and nuances of this condition in the US population is important to plan and develop appropriate public health interventions. Most of the available data from urban areas indicate that there is variability in CVD mortality rates by age, race, and gender. While most cases occur in people 65 years and older and the overall mortality rate for CVD has declined over the past four decades, the impact of this disease might increase due to an aging US population. There is also considerable mortality rate variability by race and gender. The changes in mortality usually reflect changes in incidence and case-fatality rate. According to a study conducted in Worcester, the incidence and case-fatality rate of acute myocardial infarction has declined since 1975(6). The study attributes the decline partly to encouraging trends in the population awareness and control of high blood pressure, declining prevalence rates of cigarette smoking, and declines in average population serum cholesterol levels, as well as other unknown factors.

The American Heart Association's (AHA) strategic planning task force and statistics committee recommends a population goal of reducing cardiovascular mortality by 20 % by the year 2020(7). They define ideal cardiovascular health by the presence of both ideal health behaviors (nonsmoking, body mass index <25 kg/m2, physical activity at goal levels, and pursuit of a diet consistent with current guideline recommendations) and ideal health factors (untreated total cholesterol <200 mg/dL, untreated blood pressure <120/<80 mm Hg, and fasting blood glucose <100 mg/dL).

A study by Barnett and colleagues in 1996 indicated that coronary heart disease mortality in rural areas is higher than in urban areas(8). However, given the marked biomedical and public health advances in recent years, it is surprising that there has been no recent study examining trends in CVD mortality, nor investigations into the variability previously observed across different age, sex, race/ethnic, and rural-urban groups.

Urban- Rural Disparities in Cardiovascular Disease Mortality Rates

Kaustubh Dabhadkar, MBBS

Introduction:

Approximately 34 % of deaths in the United States of America (USA) are due to cardiovascular diseases (CVD). Heart failure, stroke, and myocardial infarction account for most of these deaths. Almost 1 in every 6 deaths due to CVD is due to coronary artery disease (9). However, heart failure, stroke and myocardial infarction are considered preventable causes of CVD mortality (10-11).

The decline in overall CVD mortality rates can be attributed to medical advances, reduction in risk factors like smoking, blood cholesterol levels, and blood pressure (owing to improved management guidelines, availability of newer drugs, and better access to healthcare), as well as increased awareness of healthy dietary habits(6). Similar reductions in mortality have been observed in European countries too (12-13). Despite these overall reductions in CVD mortality, CVD continues to remain a leading cause of death in the USA (9).

Moreover, many studies have noted race/ethnic disparities in CVD mortality (9). However, data regarding urban-rural disparities in CVD mortality and associated trends are sparse. Studies have shown that any relationship(s) between level of urbanization and CVD mortality is poorly understood (14).We therefore studied the differences in CVD mortality and their associated trends over eight years (1999-2007) in predefined urbanization categories in US adults over 45 years using National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) data(15).

Methods:

Data source:

We used national-level mortality and population statistics for years 1999-2007 from the National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) Office of Analysis and Epidemiology (OAE) at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). The data spanning the years 1968-2007 are made available as a Compressed Mortality File (CMF) on the CDC Wide-ranging Online Data for Epidemiologic Research (WONDER) website. The population estimates for the CMF are based on Bureau of the Census estimates of total U.S., State, and county resident populations. Mortality information is collected by state registries and is based on data from death certificates. The CMF is a county level national mortality and population database which also includes data on agegroup, race, ethnicity, gender, cause of death, injury intent and mechanism, and urbanization. It was updated in November 2010 to include data on statistics from the year 2007. Data for the years 1999-2007 were used for this analysis.

Since we were interested in looking at covariate influences on preventable CVD in adults > 45 years, our outcome is a composite measure of mortality due to heart failure, stroke, and myocardial infarction. International Classification of Disease (ICD)-10 codes for conditions that were included in our analysis are listed below:

Heart failure: I11.0, I13.0, I13.2, I25.5, I42.1, I42.2, I42.5, I42.8, I50.0, I50.1

Stroke : I60.0, I60.1, I60.2, I60.3, I60.4, I60.5, I60.6, I60.7, I60.9, I61.0, I61.1, I61.2, I61.3, I61.4, I61.5, I61.6, I61.8, I61.9, I62.9, I63.0, I63.1, I63.2, I63.3, I63.4, I63.5, I63.6, I63.8, I63.9, I64, I67.8, I69.0, I69.1, I69.2, I69.3, I69.4, I69.8

Myocardial infarction: I21.0, I21.1, I21.2, I21.3, I21.4, I21.9, I22.0, I22.1, I22.8, I22.9, I24.1

For our analysis, we investigated death rates due to CVD per 100, 000 in a county. A death was assigned to a county if it was the person's place of legal residence at the time of death. In the CMF, underlying cause-of-death is selected from the conditions entered by the physician on the cause of death section of the death certificate. When more than one cause or condition is entered by the physician, the underlying cause is determined by the sequence of conditions on the certificate, provisions of the ICD, and associated selection rules and modifications.

In order to analyze data by level of urbanization, we categorized urbanization into three levels (large metropolitan areas [metro], medium and small metros, and nonmetros [i.e. rural areas]) based on the 2006 NCHS Urban-Rural Classification Scheme for Counties. Race and gender information in the census is collected by respondent selfreport and on death certificates as reported by next of kin. The NCHS uses a direct method to standardize mortality rates to the US population in the year 2000. Our analysis did not include county-level rates if the death count for a year was < 20 or county census involved a sample population < 100,000 individuals.

Statistical analysis:

Analyses were performed using SAS statistical software version 9.2 (SAS Institute Inc, Cary, North Carolina). Age-group, race and gender were independently evaluated their association with outcome variable. Categories with less than 5 deaths or unreliable death counts were excluded from our analyses. Tests of normality were performed and where required, natural log transformation was applied to ensure the number of persons at risk was distributed normally. Analyses were performed using normally distributed data to satisfy the assumption of normality. Age-adjusted mortality rates were calculated as number of deaths due to CVD in an age-group divided by population under risk within each gender, race, and urbanization stratum with 95% confidence intervals calculated assuming a Poisson distribution.

The following equations describe our models for calculating the mortality rate:

Model 1: $Y_{mortality_rate} = \beta 0 + \beta 1 X_{urbanization_level} + c$

Model 2: $Y_{mortality_rate} = \beta 0 + \beta 1 X_{urbanization_level} + \beta 2 X_{race} + c$

Model 3: $Y_{mortality_rate} = \beta 0 + \beta 1 X_{urbanization_level} + \beta 2 X_{race} + \beta 3 X_{gender} + c$ Model 4:

 $Y_{mortality_rate} = \beta 0 + \beta 1 X_{urbanization_level} + \beta 2 X_{race} + \beta 3 X_{gender} + \beta 4 X_{age-group} + c$, where $\beta 1$, $\beta 2$, $\beta 3$, and $\beta 4$ are regression coefficients and c is a constant.

We performed multivariate regression analyses to calculate mortality rate ratios in each urbanization stratum with large metros as used as reference, while adjusting for gender and race. We also compared mortality rate ratios in different stratum separately for each gender. All statistical tests were 2-sided. A P value less than .05 was considered statistically significant.

The study was exempted from review by Emory Institutional review board.

Results:

Out of the total study population, 53.3 % were females. Race/ethnic groups were distributed across the population as follows: 85.5 % whites, 10.1 % African-Americans, 3.7% Asian or pacific islanders, and 0.75 % American Indians or Alaska natives. An estimated 4.54 % of the population was > 85 years of age and had the maximum mortality rate due to CVD.

[Table 1 here]

Table 1 shows crude mortality rates by 10 year age-group, gender, race, and by level of urbanization for the year 2007. An age trend was noted in mortality rates with

the highest mortality rate in the group over 85 years. We consistently observed highest death rates by age-group, gender, and race in non-metro areas. The negative urban-rural gradient for death rates was statistically significant (p < 0.001) in all groups. Figure 1 shows that there has been an overall decline in mortality rates across all urbanization levels. However, age-adjusted mortality rates were consistently highest in non-metros and thus had the smallest relative decline.

[Figure 1 here]

[Table 2 here]

On univariate analysis, age-group, race and gender were significantly associated with mortality rate (p < 0.001). Based on this observation, we included them in our multivariate model. In table 2, we present the adjusted rate ratio estimates by fitting age-specific Poisson models that included urbanization levels, age-group composition, ethnic composition, and gender as hierarchical covariates. Consistent urban rural patterns are evident. In particular, in the year 2007, adjusted for age, gender, and race, and compared to people in large metros, people in non-metros areas were 34 % more likely to die of cardiovascular causes. This likelihood has increased 7 %, as compared to 27 % increased rate in the year 1999. The mortality rate due to CVD has gone up to 12 % in small metros compared to large metros in 2007 compared to an 8 % increased likelihood observed in 1999. After we adjusted for age-group, gender and race, the rate ratio of mortality decreased with time, with the largest reductions being observed in large metros.

[Figure 2 here]

While the age-adjusted all cause mortality rate has declined from 2306.7 in 1999 to 1984.9, the age-adjusted CVD mortality rate has declined from 449.8 in 1999 to 293.4 in 2007(15). Thus, the proportion of CVD deaths has gone down from 12.5 % in 1999 to

9.5 % in 2007. As seen in Figure 2, the proportional mortality has declined across all urbanization levels. However, the decline has been more pronounced in large metros and non-metros compared to small metros.

Discussion:

Advances in healthcare and introduction of more rigorous early intervention and risk factor control have most likely contributed to major changes in CVD mortality trends. The availability of NCHS data allowed us to study these trends from an ecological perspective. We found that CVD mortality rates vary according to level of urbanization, with the largest disparity being observed between non-metros and large metros (see Table 1). Our results highlight the importance of need to focus on non-metros to reduce the cardiovascular mortality disparity. Prior studies have focused on age, race and gender related differences in CVD mortality rates. However, very few studies have studied the urban-rural disparities in CVD mortality.

Large metros accounted for 47 % of total deaths. This finding is not surprising since 52 % of US population over the age of 45 years is inhabitant of large metros. We observed a similar pattern in CVD mortality rate in rural areas in comparison to large metros. CVDs seem to have more serious outcomes amongst people residing in rural areas. Although there has been a trend toward decreasing contribution of CVD to all cause mortality rates, the decline has been the least in rural areas (Figure 2).

The availability of NCHS data allowed us to study these trends from an ecological perspective. Thus, our study is unlikely to be affected by ecological fallacy or bias. We stratified all US counties into three urbanization levels to study the effect of urbanization on cardiovascular disease mortality. The results of this study show that although CVD mortality rates have declined overall in the US during study period, the gap in rate ratio of mortality in urban-rural areas has widened. Particularly noticeable is

the gap between large metros and rural areas which has increased from 1.27 to 1.34 after adjusting for age-group, gender, and ethnic differences in the population.

CVDs were traditionally considered diseases of affluent urban populations. However, since the past 2-3 decades, the disease pattern has undergone transformation such that rural areas have witnessed higher mortality rates. These differences might reflect differences in incidence and case-fatality rate (16). However, solid data regarding incidence of CVD in rural populations throughout US is lacking. A similar declining trend has been observed in all-cause mortality rates as well. Thus, there has been a shift towards non-metropolitan mortality penalty from urban mortality penalty(17). Pearson has proposed that rural areas are 'late adopters' of health behaviors (18). This might also explain the change in mortality penalty.

A few commonly-cited factors that may contribute to these differences in ruralurban mortality are the lack of access to healthcare, shortage of trained healthcare workers in rural areas, and lack of awareness of risk (19-20). Lower socioeconomic status in rural areas might contribute to low levels of awareness and knowledge about health maintenance, poor access to and adoption of preventive care and behaviors, and reliance on emergency departments or other episodic, discontinuous sources for primary care(21). Also, low socioeconomic status is associated with higher prevalence of coronary heart disease risk factors, such as cigarette smoking, poor dietary habits, and sedentary lifestyles(22).

According to a report, the ratio of physicians to population in urban counties is 136% higher than that in rural counties(23). The disparity is also an indication of lack of equitable access to good healthcare facilities. In general, the significant differences have been observed in availability and level of response of rural emergency services, transit time and communication gaps between local emergency department and tertiary care centers and inadequately trained healthcare staff in rural areas(24). Also, in general it has been observed that general practitioners and nurses in rural areas lack the skills and confidence required to encourage health promotion activities(25). This issue is further compounded by lack of availability of screening tests in rural areas which in turn leads to poor risk perception in rural population (26).

There are some limitations to our study though. We modeled variations in CVD mortality rates primarily as a function of an ecological variable, level of urbanization, which is not quite reducible at and may have limited effect on the individual level. Previous studies have demonstrated that mortality due to CVD is associated with socioeconomic factors and access to healthcare. So the difference in county characteristics in terms of socioeconomic status, access to healthcare and education levels, in addition to age group, ethnic, and gender composition could have contributed to differences in mortality. Bias is also possible from undercounts of some population groups in the census, particularly young black males, young white males, and elderly persons, resulting in an overestimation of death rates. However, since the study involved sample populations that are representative of the entire US population, the effect of bias is likely to be very small.

The association of urbanization level with CVD mortality suggests that strategies that address risk factors at all levels of urbanization are necessary. In general, our findings indicate that further research to understand the causes of this disparity is required. This can help us further reduce CVD mortality by optimizing interventions at national level with specific focus on rural areas.

References

- Lloyd-Jones D, Adams RJ, Brown TM, et al. Executive summary: heart disease and stroke statistics--2010 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 2010;121(7):948-54.
- Adih WK, Selik RM, Xiaohong H. Trends in Diseases Reported on US Death Certificates That Mentioned HIV Infection, 1996-2006. J Int Assoc Physicians AIDS Care (Chic) 2011;10(1):5-11.
- Narayan KM, Ali MK, Koplan JP. Global noncommunicable diseases--where worlds meet. N Engl J Med 2010;363(13):1196-8.
- Ford ES, Capewell S. Proportion of the Decline in Cardiovascular Mortality Disease due to Prevention Versus Treatment: Public Health Versus Clinical Care. *Annu Rev Public Health* 2011;32:5-22.
- Wijeysundera HC, Machado M, Farahati F, et al. Association of temporal trends in risk factors and treatment uptake with coronary heart disease mortality, 1994-2005. JAMA 2010;303(18):1841-7.
- Goldberg RJ, Yarzebski J, Lessard D, et al. A two-decades (1975 to 1995) long experience in the incidence, in-hospital and long-term case-fatality rates of acute myocardial infarction: a community-wide perspective. J Am Coll Cardiol 1999;33(6):1533-9.
- Lloyd-Jones DM, Hong Y, Labarthe D, et al. Defining and setting national goals for cardiovascular health promotion and disease reduction: the American Heart Association's strategic Impact Goal through 2020 and beyond. *Circulation* 2010;121(4):586-613.
- Barnett E, Strogatz D, Armstrong D, et al. Urbanisation and coronary heart disease mortality among African Americans in the US South. J Epidemiol Community Health 1996;50(3):252-7.

- Roger VL, Go AS, Lloyd-Jones DM, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2011
 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 2011;123(4):e18-e209.
- Yusuf S, Hawken S, Ounpuu S, et al. Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): casecontrol study. *Lancet* 2004;364(9438):937-52.
- Rothwell PM, Coull AJ, Giles MF, et al. Change in stroke incidence, mortality, casefatality, severity, and risk factors in Oxfordshire, UK from 1981 to 2004 (Oxford Vascular Study). *Lancet* 2004;363(9425):1925-33.
- Laatikainen T, Critchley J, Vartiainen E, et al. Explaining the decline in coronary heart disease mortality in Finland between 1982 and 1997. *Am J Epidemiol* 2005;162(8):764-73.
- Unal B, Critchley JA, Capewell S. Explaining the decline in coronary heart disease mortality in England and Wales between 1981 and 2000. *Circulation* 2004;109(9):1101-7.
- Yusuf S, Reddy S, Ounpuu S, et al. Global burden of cardiovascular diseases: part I: general considerations, the epidemiologic transition, risk factors, and impact of urbanization. *Circulation* 2001;104(22):2746-53.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention NCHS CMF-CWO-lD, compiled from Compressed Mortality File 1999-2007 Series 20 No. 2M`, 2010. Accessed at <u>http://wonder.cdc.gov/cmf-icd10.html</u> on Feb 20`, 2011 6:50:31 PM.
- Cooper R, Cutler J, Desvigne-Nickens P, et al. Trends and disparities in coronary heart disease, stroke, and other cardiovascular diseases in the United States: findings of the national conference on cardiovascular disease prevention. *Circulation* 2000;102(25):3137-47.
- Cosby AG, Neaves TT, Cossman RE, et al. Preliminary evidence for an emerging nonmetropolitan mortality penalty in the United States. *Am J Public Health* 2008;98(8):1470-2.
- Pearson TA, Lewis C. Rural epidemiology: insights from a rural population laboratory. *Am J Epidemiol* 1998;148(10):949-57.

- Gage BF, Boechler M, Doggette AL, et al. Adverse outcomes and predictors of underuse of antithrombotic therapy in medicare beneficiaries with chronic atrial fibrillation. *Stroke* 2000;31(4):822-7.
- 20. Howard G, Brockschmidt JK, Coull BM, et al. The community hospital-based stroke programs in North Carolina, Oregon and New York--V. Stroke diagnosis: factors influencing the diagnostic evaluation of patients following acute stroke. *J Clin Epidemiol* 1991;44(3):293-301.
- Taylor HA, Hughes GD, Garrison RJ. Cardiovascular disease among women residing in rural America: epidemiology, explanations, and challenges. *Am J Public Health* 2002;92(4):548-51.
- 22. Edwards KA, Parker DE, Burks CD, et al. Cardiovascular risks: among Black and White rural-urban low income women. *ABNF J* 1991;2(4):72-6.
- Ricketts TC. Workforce issues in rural areas: a focus on policy equity. *Am J Public Health* 2005;95(1):42-8.
- 24. Leira EC, Hess DC, Torner JC, et al. Rural-urban differences in acute stroke management practices: a modifiable disparity. *Arch Neurol* 2008;65(7):887-91.
- 25. Steptoe A, Doherty S, Kendrick T, et al. Attitudes to cardiovascular health promotion among GPs and practice nurses. *Fam Pract* 1999;16(2):158-63.
- 26. Fiandt K, Pullen CH, Walker SN. Actual and perceived risk for chronic illness in rural older women. *Clin Excell Nurse Pract* 1999;3(2):105-15.
- Phillips CD, McLeroy KR. Health in rural America: remembering the importance of place. *Am J Public Health* 2004;94(10):1661-3.

Tables

Table 1: CVD Mortality Rates for US Population by urbanization categories, 2007

	All USA		Large metros		Small metros		Non-metros	
	Deaths	Mortality rate (per 100,000)	Deaths	Mortality rate (per 100,000)	Deaths	Mortality rate (per 100,000)	Deaths	Mortality rate (per 100,000)
45-54 years (38.81 %)	161569	44	71916	37	49582	47	40071	64
55-64 years (26.68 %)	296119	118	128547	99	89862	122	77710	165
65-74 years (17.75 %)	543674	325	241329	293	163306	325	139039	404
75-84 years (12.21 %)	1112603	969	513340	908	335112	959	264151	1124
85+ years (4.54 %)	1327650	3097	611034	2924	395861	3100	320755	3523
Female (53.23 %)	1894603	374	875592	333	567835	381	451176	481
Male (46.27 %)	1547012	355	690574	308	465888	362	390550	472
American Indian or Alaska Native	40000		07/0					
(0.75 %)	12288	172	2763	108	3354	162	6171	253
Asian or Pacific Islander (3.7 %)	57734	165	40886	153	13352	198	3496	237
Black or African American (10.13 %)	359946	377	204729	329	90133	413	65084	574
White (85.5 %)	3011647	374	1317788	333	926884	375	766975	475

Data source: National Center for Health Statistics (Compressed Mortality File 1999-2007)

Non-metros (Ref.: Large metros)											
	199	9			2007						
	Estimate of			Estimate of							
	adjusted mortality			adjusted mortality							
	RR	95 % CI		RR	95 % CI						
Model 1	1.43	1.42	1.44	1.57	1.56	1.59					
Model 2	1.40	1.39	1.41	1.54	1.53	1.55					
Model 3	1.40	1.39	1.41	1.54	1.53	1.55					
Model 4	1.27	1.26	1.28	1.34	1.33	1.35					
Small and medium metros (Ref: Large metros)											
	199	19			2007						
	Estimate of			Estimate of							
	adjusted mortality			adjusted mortality							
	RR	95 % (CI	RR	95 % CI						
Model 1	1.13	1.12	1.13	1.21	1.20	1.22					
Model 2	1.11	1.10	1.12	1.19	1.18	1.20					
Model 3	1.11	1.10	1.12	1.19	1.18	1.20					
Model 4	1.08	1.07	1.09	1.12	1.11	1.13					

Table 2: Rate Ratio Estimates of CVD mortality From Poisson Regression Models byUrbanization categories, Age group, Gender, and Race in United States, 1999 and 2007

Data source: National Center for Health Statistics (Compressed Mortality File 1999-2007)

<u>Figures</u>



Figure 1: Age-adjusted US CVD mortality rates by Urbanization Level, 1999-2007

Data source: National Center for Health Statistics (Compressed Mortality File 1999-2007)

Figure 2: CVD deaths as a percentage of total deaths, 1999-2007



Data source: National Center for Health Statistics (Compressed Mortality File 1999-2007)

Public Health Implications and future directions

The urban-rural disparities observed in this study are important considerations for policy makers as well as healthcare providers. While CVD mortality has declined over the past two decades, there have also evidently been some epidemiological transitions. CVDs, which were earlier considered an urban disease, now have higher incidence and mortality in rural areas. Our findings indicate that people living in non-metros are at a higher risk compared to those living in metropolitan areas. Among people in rural areas, the mortality rate was 1.34 times higher in the year 2007.

In addition to lack of access to healthcare services and poor physician to population ratio, there are many other obstacles that hamper optimum CVD prevention interventions in rural areas. These include low population density, transportation issues, lack of access to grant funding , difficulty in recruiting staff to rural areas and fragmentation of resources(27). Thus, we cannot directly use models that have been found to be useful in urban areas. We will have to develop models that will suit the healthcare needs of rural America by taking into account the difference in cultures.

Much of the excessive CVD mortality risk in rural areas still remains unexplained. In order to develop such models, additional studies are needed to understand reasons for excessive risk of cardiovascular mortality in rural areas. In order to reduce overall mortality rates due to CVD, greater attention must be paid to these potential underlying reasons. Further investigation is needed to tease out the drivers of these outcomes disparities – in other words, are these rural-urban differences rooted in system-level issues (infrastructure, personnel), provider-level barriers (awareness, clinical inertia, or other causes) or patient-level challenges (e.g. awareness, accessibility, acceptability)? Utilizing these findings would permit policy-makers to devise policies and programs that focus on reducing urban-rural disparities. For example, policies and programs that specifically focus on health promotion activities in rural areas, decreasing thresholds for detection, increasing provider awareness, provision of algorithms and guidelines, instituting quality of care standards, and enhancing existing infrastructure (buildings, transfer/referral systems, etc.) may all prove beneficial. Improved interventions in rural areas have the potential to considerably reduce the national CVD mortality rates. The US Department of Health and Human Services has taken important steps towards this by identifying reducing health disparities as one of its goals in 'Healthy People 2010'.